**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
Pickens County
Court of Common Pleas**

PERRY H, Gravely, Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 2022-CP_39-00680

The State of South Carolina

Respondent,

v,

Robert Earl DILLARD,

Appellant,

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED

MAR 10 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Robert Earl Dillard
Robert Earl Dillard, 220045
Perry Correctional Inst,
430 Oaklawn Road Q4B/209
Pelzer, S.C. 29669

Medoley J, Brown, Esquire
Attorney General Office
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211

date 3-4 2025.

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPLICANT SUFFERED A MISCARRIAGE OF JUSTICE WHEN HE WAS CONVICTED UPON A STANDARD OF GUILT BELOW THAT REQUIRED BY THE FOURTEENTH DUE PROCESS CLAUSE (Alternatively, applicant raised this ground under ineffective assistance of counsel).

The applicant submits that the record of his trial shows that after the jury found him guilty, he discovered that during its deliberation the jury had sent the judge a note requesting a layman's definition of "reasonable doubt". He further discovered that the judge had conferred with both applicant's counsel and the solicitor regarding the jury's request before writing on the jury's note that "he could not comply with the jury's request." Also, without publishing the jury's request in open court, the

judge sent the note back to the jury with a response that "he could not comply with their request." Tr.p. 681-82

In addressing such an error, the SC Supreme Court has recognized that a "reasonable doubt" charge could be erroneous if it could cause a jury to interpret the charge to allow a finding of guilt based on a degree of proof below that required by the Fourteenth Amendment, Due Process Clause. As a result, the SC Supreme Court has offered a definition which would be acceptable for use by the bench, as follows:

"a reasonable doubt is the kind of doubt that would cause a reasonable person to hesitate to act...."

State v. Manning, 409 S.E.2d 372 (1971). The Court has further guided that the courts are not restricted to the exact definition in Manning, but that the charge must legally equate to that offered in Manning. See, State v. Clute.

Nevertheless, to warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury instruction must be both erroneous and prejudicial. State v. Hughey, 529 S.E.2d 721 (SC 2000). Where a general instruction to jury is insufficient to enable jury to understand fully law of case, the refusal to give requested charge is reversible error. Brown v. Smalls, 481 S.E.2d 444 (SC App. 1977). Moreover, the U.S. Supreme Court has held that the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime for which he is charged. To this end, the "reasonable doubt" standard is indispensable (to a fair trial). In re Winship. 397 U.S. 358 (1970).

Here, as evidenced by the jury's "note" requesting a layman's definition of "reasonable doubt", it is logical to assume that the jury had, at this point, entertained a degree of doubt as to applicant's guilt and had focused critical attention on the definition of "reasonable doubt" to reach its verdict. Therefore, the layman's definition of reasonable doubt which the

judge should have conveyed to the jury would be given special consideration in reaching a verdict since it was in response to its own inquiry. Under this circumstance, the judge's failure to comply with the jury's request was an error of law that prejudiced applicant's fundamental right to a fair trial. See e.g., State v. Blasingame, 244 S.E.2d 528 (SC 1978); See also, Winship (holding that a conviction below the reasonable doubt standard would amount to a miscarriage of justice).

Finally, applicant contends that the failure of the judge, solicitor, and his counsel to provide a confused jury a layman's definition of "reasonable doubt" in his case should amount to a failure of the judicial system and a corresponding miscarriage of justice to entitle him to review of the merits of his claim. An applicant's right to a fair trial is basic requirement of the Due Process Clause, and includes a fair judge. Liljerberg v. Health Serv. Corp., 486 U.S. 847 (1988); a right to be prosecuted by a prosecutor whose duty is to see that justice is done. Berger v. U.S., 295 U.S. 78 (1936); and the right to effective assistance of trial counsel, Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

II. THE APPLICANT DISCOVERED AFTER HIS TRIAL AND FIRST PCR ACTION THAT THE SOLICITOR KNOWINGLY USED PERJURED TESTIMONY TO OBTAIN HIS CONVICTION (Alternatively, applicant raised this ground under ineffective assistance of counsel).

The SC Supreme Court has recognized prosecutorial misconduct as a ground for PCR action in the absence even of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Gibson v. State, 514 S.E.2d 320, 323-27 (SC 1999) (Setting aside applicant's guilty plea, and granting a new trial because of prosecutor's Brady violation.) [fn.1]

With regard to his claim, the applicant submits that pursuant to his discovery and Brady Motion the solicitor disclosed the

[1] Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194 (1963)

detention records of its chief witness, James Simpson. However, the solicitor failed to disclose any records of Simpson's detention in the Greenville Detention Center (GDC) for the months of November 25, 1992 through April 30, 1993, which covered the time period Simpson testified that applicant admitted to him (Simpson) that he (applicant) had committed the murders while they were at the "Haynie Street Men's Club" in downtown Greenville. As the State's evidence against applicant was entirely circumstantial, Simpson's testimony regarding applicants murder confession to Simpson in "February 1993" at the Haynie Street Men's Club was the only evidence the State had that directly connects applicant to the murders.

Following his trial and before filing his first PCR action in 1997, applicant contacted the GDC requesting requesting Simpson's detention records but was not provided any of Simpson's records covering the time period between November 1992 through April 1993. Finally, on January 17, 2001, pursuant to the SC Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), the GDC Record Manager, Jinny Morgan, provided applicant the records of Simpson's detention. These records showed that Simpson was, in fact, detained in the GDC from 11-25-92 until 4-30-93. Thus, Simpson's GDC records showed that he obviously could not have been at the "Haynie Street Men's Club" in downtown Greenville in February 1993 when he was detained in the GDC the entire month of February 1993. The records clearly showed that Simpson testified falsely.

As the GDC records shows that Simpson testified, the inquiry should now focus on whether the solicitor knowingly introduced Simpson's false testimony to convict applicant. A review of the solicitor's closing argument did not only show that he knowingly introduced Simpson's perjured testimony, but also showed that the solicitor actually provided Simpson with key evidence from the murder scene to convince the jury of Simpson's credibility, in relevant part, as follows:

Solicitor: Mr. Warner (applicant's counsel) might argue that Simpson was the one who killed them. I don't

know, he might argue that, but I just simply ask you to remember "that Simpson was in jail at the time (of the murders)". Tr.p. 632.

Solicitor: What did he (Simpson) tell us? He told us some things in the statement that nobody else knew, that the general public did not know, that had not been released to the public, to the media.

Of particular note, the murders took place on December 17, 1992. The GDC records showed that Simpson was detained in the GDC from 11-25-92 until 4-30-93. Consequently, the solicitor's closing argument shows that he knew from his own records that Simpson had been detained in the GDC from 11-25-92 until 4-30-93, which also included the time of the murders as the solicitor argued. Therefore, as Simpson could not have been at the "Haynie Street Men's Club" in downtown Greenville to witness any confession by applicant, or get any details of the murder scene from applicant, it logically follows that he was provided the details of the murder scene from the solicitor's files. [fn.2]

To obtain relief on the basis of subornation and perjury, an applicant must demonstrate (1) that the witness made a false statement, (2) that the false statement was material to case, (3) that the false statement was knowingly and intentionally employed by the State. See Beasley v. Holland, 649 F.Supp. 561 (S.D.W.Va. 1985). Furthermore, a conviction must be set aside if there is a reasonable probability that false testimony (or evidence) could have affected the outcome of the trial. See e.g., United States v. Bagley, 105 S.Ct. 3375, 473 U.S. 667 (1985); Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 92 S.Ct. 763 (1972); Miller v. Pate, 87 S.Ct. 785 (1967); Brady, supra.

[2] See print-out of 13th Circuit Solicitor Office practice of using false testimony by incarcerated witnesses to obtain conviction, attached herewith as Exhibit A-1A-2A3.

(3) see ALSO U.S. V. FREEMAN, 650 F3d 673, 680 (7th cir 2011)

III. THE SOLICITOR PROSECUTED AND CONVICTED APPLICANT UPON UNINDICTED MURDER OFFENSES.

The applicant contends that the solicitor did not obtain his murder indictment by way of a lawfully convened Pickens County Grand Jury to empower the general sessions (circuit) court to adjudicate his murder cases. In reviewing such a claim as alleged by applicant, the SC Supreme Court has held that it will presume the regularity and legality of the proceedings before the grand jury was complied with absent any evidence to the contrary. State v. James, 472 S.E.2d 38. To prove that the solicitor did not comply with the regular and legal proceedings before the grand jury for presentment of his murder indictment, the applicant will show that he received a "general sessions court calendar" from the SC Court Administration and its implication. Government records and official conduct should be accorded a presumption of legitimacy. U.S. Dept. of State v. Ray, 112 S.Ct. 541, 502 U.S. 164 (1991).

Accordingly, the applicant's indictment shows that the grand jury presented it during a November 17, 1994, term of Pickens County general sessions court. Conversely, the SC Court Administration's calendar shows there was no term of general sessions court held in Pickens County on November 17, 1994. See SC Court Administration calendar attached hereto as Exhibit B-1 & B-2. As a result, the applicant directs the Court's inquiry to whether the "absence of a term of general sessions court for attendance of a grand jury could deprive the court of its 'power' (jurisdiction) to adjudicate cases." To resolve this question, it will be necessary to interpret the U.S. Supreme Court's holding in United States v. Cotton, 122 S.Ct. 1781 (2002), which guided the SC Supreme Court's ruling in State v. Gentry, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). In both Cotton and Gentry, the Court's held that the term "Subject Matter Jurisdiction" means the "Court's statutory and constitutional power to adjudicate the case."

Likewise, in South Carolina, the general sessions court's power (jurisdiction) to adjudicate a criminal case is determined by statutory law as follows: (1) the grand jury... shall meet with general sessions court at each of its terms -- SC Code, Ann., § 14-9-170; (2) the solicitor shall prepare and, through the presiding judge of general sessions court, submit to grand jury, while in attendance upon general sessions court, bills of indictment (for grand jury presentment) -- SC Code, Ann., § 14-9-210. No indictment may be true billed by grand jury when circuit court (general sessions) lacks jurisdiction (or is not in term), since the grand jury's jurisdiction is co-extensive with the criminal jurisdiction of the general sessions court in which it is convened and for which it is to make inquiry (on bills indictment). State v. McClure, 289 S.E.2d 158 (1982); State v. Wheeler, 193 S.E.2d 515 (1972).

In addition, the SC Constitution mandates that "no person may be held to answer for any crime... unless on a presentment of indictment by a grand jury of the county where the crime has been committed." SC Const., Art. I, § 11; and "the grand jury of each county... shall consist of eighteen (18) members, twelve (12) of whom must agree on a matter (true bill) before a case can be presented for trial (of case) by general sessions court." SC Const., Art. V, § 22. The presentment of indictment for general sessions court's jurisdiction to try criminal cases is (according to Cotton and Gentry) determined by the above statutory and constitutional laws, and is fundamental. Anderson v. Anderson, 382 S.E.2d 897 (1989).

As a threshold matter, the SC Constitution gives the general sessions court jurisdiction to try all criminal cases. SC Const., Art. V, § 11. However, the jurisdictional claim raised by applicant is not a challenge to the Pickens County general sessions court's jurisdiction to try criminal cases. Instead, the applicant is contending that the solicitor failed to comply with statutory and constitutional laws, set forth above, which are jurisdictional in nature, specifying the manner and means for presentment of his murder indictment by lawfully convened grand

[Cont]-

A Notice of Appeal was Filed and Perfected at the South Carolina Supreme Court, M. Anne Pearce, Esquire of the South Carolina Office of Appellate Defense Perfected the Appeal. The Supreme Court "Affirmed" -Petitioner's Conviction and Sentence in State V. Dillard, OP.no. 97-mo-012 [S.C. Sup.Ct., Filed February 11, 1997].

In essence, Applicant is alleging that there was no legal -- obtained indictment charging him with murder because there was no-term of General Sessions Court with a Grand-Jury in -- "Attendance to present his indictment" for trial of his case under General Sessions Court's Criminal Jurisdiction. THUS, The absence of a presentment of indictment of indictment was a "defect in subject-matter jurisdiction" that deprived the Court of it's "Power to Act". Smith V. United States, 360 U.S. 1, 10, 79 S.Ct. 991, 3 L.Ed.2d 1041 [1959].

Finally, Both the United States and South Carolina Supreme Courts have held "defect/s in subject-matter jurisdiction require - correction whenever raised. COTTON, GENTRY, SUPRA. And, the Court's "lack of subject-matter jurisdiction" may be raised at any time, including FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL, OR COLLATERAL CHALLENGE. Hope V. State, 492 S.E.2d 76 [SC 1997]. See The United States Supreme Court has HELD that Government Records' and OFFICIAL Conduct must be Accorded a Presumption of - Legitimacy, in Dept. of U.S. V. Ray, 112 S.Ct. 541 [1991].

Jury for trial of his case under general sessions Court's criminal Jurisdiction.

In Essence, the applicant is alleging that there was no legal obtained indictment charging him with murder because was no term of General Sessions Court with a grand Jury in attendance to present his indictment for trial of his case under general sessions Court's criminal Jurisdiction. THUS, the absence of a Presentment of indictment' was a defect in ' Subject-matter Jurisdiction' that deprived the Court of its 'power to adjudicate applicant's case. The absence of an indictment is a Jurisdictional defect which deprives the Court of its Power to act. SMITH V, UNITED STATES, 360 U.S. 1, 10, 79 S Ct. 991 3 L.Ed. 2d 1041 (1959).


Finally, both the U.S. and S.C. Supreme Courts have Held that 'defects,

In Subject-Matter Jurisdiction require Correction Whenever raised COTTON, GENTRY, SUPra and the Court's lack of Subject-Matter Jurisdiction may be raised at any time, including for the first time on Appeal, or Collateral Challenge. HOPE V, STATE, 492 S.E.2d 76 (S C 1997). see the U.S..Supreme Court has Held that Government Record's and Official conduct must be accorded a Presumption of legitimacy, see Department of U.S. V, RAY, 112 Ct, 541 (1991).

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, for the forgoing reason, the Honorable Court Should hold an evidentiary hearing to reverse and vacate applicant's conviction and sentence, with a New Trial.

date 3-4 2025.


Robert Earl Dillard #220045
perry correctional Inst,
430 oaklawn Road Q4B-209
pelzer. S.C. 29669

The South Carolina Court of Appeals

Robert Earl Dillard, Appellant,