RECEIVED

Nov 13 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY

The Honorable Perry H. Gravely

ROBERT EARL DILLARD,

APPELLANT,

v.

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT.

Appellate Case No.: 2022-000972

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No: 14244

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

fired by the same weapon. Two of the bullets removed by Dr. Sexton (State's Exhibit Nos. 34 (a) and 34(d)) were also fired by the same weapon that fired State's Exhibit Nos. 43 - 45. However, his test results on the remaining bullets were inconclusive. Further, he explained that any .357 revolver is capable of firing .38 caliber bullets. [R.] p. 290, line 5 - p. 313, line 23; p. 318, line 10 - p. 323, line 6).

Finally, Officer Stanley explained that while his testing of State's Exhibits 29(a) was inconclusive as to whether it fired State's Exhibit Nos. 43 - 45, the lead bullets found in the weapon were inconsistent with the copper jacketed bullets. Moreover, the seven copper jacketed bullets found in Petitioner's residence were consistent with State's Exhibit Nos. 43 - 45. [R.] p. 290, line 5 - p. 313, line 23; p. 318, line 10 - p. 323, line 6).

SLED Agent Vello Paavel is an expert in firearms and toolmark identification, who worked on this case after Officer Stanley's departure from SLED. Agent Paavel also examined State's Exhibit Nos. 43 - 46 and State's Exhibit Nos. 34(a) - 34(d), as well as other bullets test-fired from the Taurus .357 revolver by Mr. Pilgrim (State's Exhibit Nos. 39(a) - 39(e)). Based upon his expert examination, he opined that State's Exhibit No. 34(d) and State's Exhibit Nos. 43 - 45 were fired by the same weapon as two of the bullets fired by Mr. Pilgrim. Thus, a clear inference from his testimony is that the .357 caliber revolver owned by Petitioner was used to kill both victims. (See R. p. 329, line 6 - p. 340, line 2).

Other evidence presented by the prosecution likewise tended to prove Petitioner's guilt. On December 17, 1992, Mr. James Durham and his girlfriend lived at 67 Henderson Street Apartments, which is the same apartment complex where Karen and Mr. Roseman were murdered. Between 12:30 and 1:00 A.M., Mr. Durham heard "three or four gunshots." Several seconds later, he heard "three or four more" shots. When he looked out of his back window, he saw a black male standing in front of the kitchen door to Karen's apartment. The door was open, and the inside light was on. Therefore, Mr. Durham clearly saw the man. The man then walked into the apartment and closed the door. Mr. Durham described the man as being fairly large and having short hair. [R.] p. 223, line 22 - p. 228, line 6).

Even though Petitioner and Karen Dillard were married, they had been separated for two weeks at the time of her death. Karen moved in with her mother (Mrs. Perry) immediately after the separation. She had two black eyes and a swollen jaw at that time. Additionally, she was upset and crying. [R.] p. 203, line 23 - p. 204, line 4). On December 1, 1992, Karen obtained a protective order from the Family Court. [FN 8] Both the Petition for the Order (State's Exhibit No. 40, R. pp. 484 - 485) and the Order (State's Exhibit No. 41, R. pp. 486 - 487) itself were admitted into evidence. [R.] 213, line 4 - p. 219, line 17).

Despite the Order, Petitioner was aware that Karen was planning to move into the new apartment and, in fact, helped Mr. Roseman move a bedroom suite (from the marital home) into the apartment only three days before the double

murder. He also subsequently telephoned and spoke with Karen at her mother's house. [R.] p. 209, line 24 - p. 213, line 8; p. 221, line 18 - p. 223, line 13). Petitioner and Karen both worked a swing shift at the Bibb Company. Mrs. Perry testified that although Petitioner "regularly" called her house for Karen to ask for a ride to work, he did not call on the morning Karen was found dead. This was the only day he did not call and ask her for a ride to work. [R.] p. 207, line 19 - p. 209, line 23).

On December 17, 1992, Petitioner got a ride to work around 6:00 A.M. from Mr. Vincent L. Earle, who is married to Karen's cousin. [FN 9] As they were driving, Mr. Earle asked Petitioner "how was it going." Petitioner said, "Fine," at first. However, he appeared upset; and, he soon mumbled that he had "messed up" and that it was his fault. (He was apparently referring to his separation from Karen). Petitioner did not mention Mr. Roseman. Petitioner arrived at work at 6:25 A.M., which was 35 minutes early. [R.] p. 233, line 10 - p. 237, line 18; p. 239, line 22 - p. 241, line 18).

Petitioner likewise behaved unusually at work on December 17. Aside from the fact he reported to work very early, he was not very talkative that day. Also, rather than taking his routine cigarette break in the canteen, he walked the hallways and looked out of the windows more than normal. [R.] p. 242, line 5 - p. 247, line 2). [FN 10] Further, Karen was a "regular" employee and it was unusual for her to miss work. Nor had she followed office policy by calling in sick. Although Petitioner and Karen did not work in the same area at the Bibb Company, Petitioner would have passed by her station if he went to the canteen, and he could have seen whether she was at work. However, Petitioner never inquired about why Karen, his normal ride to work, was not there. [R.] p. 242, line 5 - p. 247, line 2; p. 359, line 11 - p. 362, line 13).

After discovering the bodies, three police officers went to the Bibb Company to inform Petitioner about his wife's death. When Detective Trotter told Petitioner that they had come about his wife, he did not inquire as to why they were there, nor did he cry or show any emotion. Instead, he began describing the events of the previous day that he had spent with Karen. When Officer Trotter told him that Karen was dead, Petitioner did not inquire as to how she had been killed. Rather, he said, "Damn, we should have stayed together." Also, he again explained his whereabouts on December 16. Petitioner agreed to go with the officers to the police station for further questioning. [R.] p. 7, line 16 - p. 10, line 23(a); see also p. 388, line 8 - p. 390, line 6).

On the way, the officers went by Petitioner's house. Petitioner gave a written consent (State's Exhibit No. 28) and the officers searched the residence. They found seven copper jacketed bullets on the night stand and a wet sweat suit hanging in the shower. The sweat suit had a white residue on it, and was so wet the officers could wring water out of it. Finally, officers swabbed a red stain on the frame of Petitioner's front door. [R.] p. 22, line 6 - p. 28, line 12; p. 33, line 21 - p.

34, line 2; p. 50, lines 11 - 12; p. 83, line 9 - p. 88, line 4; p. 89, line 19 - p. 90, line 11; p. 120, line 11 - p. 122, line 9).

After arriving at the police station and after making a written waiver of his Miranda rights, Petitioner again described his activities from the previous day. He said Karen dropped him off at home, about 10:00 p.m. on December 16, and he fell asleep on the couch. The next morning he started walking to work and eventually got a ride with Vincent L. Earl, who is the husband of Karen's cousin. [R.] p. 10, line 22 - p. 11, line 25; p. 13, line 14 - p. 21, line 22).

Petitioner likewise told the police about a fight he had with Karen just two weeks earlier, when he admittedly slapped Karen's face and her eye hit his knee. [R.] p. 413, lines 2 -10). He also told them that he had gone to jail for criminal domestic violence. [R.] p. 413, lines 11 - 15).

On August 21, 1992, Greenville police had responded to a call at a Greenville Burger King. At that time, Karen told a police officer that Petitioner had dragged her from the car, beat her and kicked her. He then shot at her -- missing her foot. Petitioner was arrested several hours later. He admitted that he and Karen had argued earlier that night, but did not elaborate. He also admitted that he had a weapon in the trunk of his car. He showed this weapon to the arresting officer, and the officer seized it. As a result of this incident, Petitioner subsequently pled guilty to criminal domestic violence and discharging a firearm within city limits. [R.] p. 259, line 6 - p. 265, line 15).

James F. Simpson was in jail at the time of the murders of Karen Dillard and Marcus Roseman. [FN 11] App. Vol. Two, p. 503- 525. However, he testified that he had a conversation about these deaths, with Petitioner, at the Haynie Street Men's Club in February, 1993. [FN 12] Petitioner told Mr. Simpson that he had killed both Karen and Marcus Roseman, and he explained how he did it. Petitioner admitted that he had killed the victims on the day Karen was moving into the apartment. He got someone to give him a ride to the apartment. He then waited until Karen and Mr. Roseman returned. When he confronted them, Karen asked him why he was there. He immediately pulled out a pistol and shot Mr. Roseman. Then, he shot Karen. Also, he told Mr. Simpson that "he tried to shoot [Mr. Roseman's] [G]oddamn balls off." Following the shooting, he returned to where his ride was waiting and went home. Finally, Petitioner told Mr. Simpson, "Well, I don't have to worry about it no damn more." (Sic). Later Mr. Simpson gave a statement to the police. [R.] p. 363, line 2 - p. 368, line 13; p. 381, line 9 - p. 384, line 20; State's Exhibit No. 49).

Simpson initially testified that he went to jail for a probation violation the second week of February 1993, then corrected himself to say it was 1994. App.p. 505, [lines] 10-25.

Mr. Simpson subsequently gave a different story to Petitioner's investigator. According to Simpson, he only gave this statement, however, because the defendant's lawyers had promised him that they would take care of his pending case. App. p. 522-523. While Mr. Simpson was not promised anything by the police in exchange for his statement to them, Petitioner's investigator promised to straighten things out for him, in exchange for the contradictory statement. App. Vol. Two, p. 502-524. [R.] p. 368, line 25 - p. 370, line 10; p. 377, line 12 - p. 378, line 8; p. 379, line 24 - p. 381, line 1). See Final Brief of Respondent, p. 3-13.

- [FN 3] Toxicology tests on both victims were negative for drugs. Also, the alcohol levels were minimal and were consistent with being caused by decomposition of the bodies. [R.] p. 171, line 19 - p. 179, line 17).
- [FN 4] The victim's bodies were laying so closely together that they touched each other.
- [FN 5] Dr. Sexton opined that a wound which entered the back of Mr. Roseman's neck and passed through the spinal column was the fatal wound, but explained that the other chest wounds would have caused death.
- [FN 6] Both were copper jacketed .38 caliber bullets.
- [FN 7] The gun was a Taurus, Model 69, Serial No. JE307987, which is a .357 magnum revolver. [R.] p. 271, lines 6 - 19; see also State's Exhibit No. 42).
- [FN 8] Petitioner purchased the murder weapon that day.
- [FN 9] Mr. Earle saw Petitioner at the Hot Spot, in Pickens.
- [FN 10] Petitioner and Karen's Department Manager, Mr. Edward Poole, had testified that Karen came to work one day with her face swollen. [R.] p. 245, line 25 - p. 247, line 2).
- [FN 11] Those charges were later dropped.
- [FN 12] Mr. Simpson had socialized with Petitioner a number of years.

(C/A 8:07-cv-01533-JFA, Return, ECF No. 13 at 8-18).¹

¹ The facts of the crime were not before the circuit court in deciding the order on appeal; consequently, there are no records to designate, or cite to, for purposes of summarizing the facts

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court has found that an order denying a request for *in forma pauperis* status to allow filing without payment of a fee is an appealable matter as it “has the effect of discontinuing the action or preventing an appealable judgment.” *Lakes v. State*, 333 S.C. 382, 385, 510 S.E.2d 228, 203 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330(2)(1) (Supp. 1997)). In *Lakes*, this Court referenced the argument that the trial judge acted within his discretion in denying such a request. *Id.* The Court reasoned that the lower court failed to make sufficient findings of facts to support its denial. *Id.*, at 386. With that disposition in mind, though the standard of review does not appear to be set out plainly in precedent, Respondent submits that correct standard is to review the ruling for an abuse of discretion as the circuit court judge must consider whether an exception exist, or whether the action shows a fundamental right that would warrant excusing the fee. *See Martin v. State*, 321 S.C. 533, 536, 471 S.E.2d 134, 135 (1995). These are matters requiring findings of facts and conclusions by the circuit court judge such that review under the abuse of discretion standard is appropriate. *Accord Layman v. State*, 376 S.C. 434, 444, 658 S.E.2d 320, 325 (2008) (decision on propriety of awarding attorneys fees reviewed for abuse of discretion); *Cross v. Gen. Motors Corp.*, 721 F.2d 1152, 1157 (8th Cir. 1983) (“Under 28 U.S.C. § 1915, the decision whether to grant or deny in forma pauperis status is within the sound discretion of the trial court.”). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court are either controlled by an error of law or are based on unsupported factual conclusions.” *Layman*, at 444, 658 S.E.2d at 325.

of the crime. Therefore, Respondent submits that this Court may take judicial notice of public records which reflect these facts as summarized in litigation of Petitioner’s claims in his federal habeas corpus action. The State’s return in that action is a matter of public record and available in the records of the United States District Court, District of South Carolina, in the case number as cited. *See* Rule 201, SCRE. Notably, the instant appeal is limited to the propriety of the order denying the filings. These facts of record give context to the litigation but are not a subject of dispute currently.

ARGUMENT

“[W]hen an indigent litigant files a motion to proceed in forma pauperis pursuant to Rule 3(c), and the complaint does not appear to fit within one of the statutory or constitutional exceptions to the requirement of a filing fee, the clerk of court must submit the motion to a judge for a ruling as to whether the complaint does fit within one of the statutory exceptions or whether the cause of action concerns a fundamental right that requires waiver of the filing fee.” *Martin v. State*, 321 S.C. 533, 536, 471 S.E.2d 134, 135 (1995).² It appears that was the exact process followed by the clerk and the circuit court below. Further, the record shows that the circuit court judge did not abuse his discretion in determining that no waiver of the fee was warranted.

Appellant attempted to file a civil action seeking to have the circuit court grant a motion to find false imprisonment and error in his 1994 trial regarding jury instructions on reasonable doubt. (R. * (Motion, May 28, 2022)). Because such a motion does not “fit within one of the statutory or constitutional exceptions to the requirement of a filing fee,” the matter was submitted to the circuit court for a ruling on motion to proceed *in forma pauperis*. On June 7, 2022, Judge Gravely, having reviewed the filing, determined there was nothing “presented on the proper forms” or any basis for waiving the civil action fee required under Rule 3, SCRCF. (R. * (para. 1)). Further, Judge Gravely determined that the motion was not cognizable in circuit court but fell into the form of direct appeal rather than a cognizable civil action. (R. * (para. 2)). Therefore, Appellant’s motion to file without payment of the civil action fee was denied and the documents returned to Appellant. *Id.*

² The Court in *Martin* listed these express exemptions pursuant to statutory provisions: appeals from magistrate or municipal courts; post-conviction relief actions; motions for orders of protection; delinquency and neglect actions; claims through employment security; and, consent for abortion. The Court also recognized exceptions “where certain fundamental rights are involved” and “the Constitution requires that an indigent be allowed access to the courts.” *Martin*, at 535, 471 S.E.2d at 135.

The record supports that Judge Gravely did not abuse his discretion in denying the request to proceed *in forma pauperis* or in construing the motion as seeking direct appeal relief. However, that is the only issue reached and available for appeal. Appellant, though, has wholly failed to address the only issue that is properly before the Court. Consequently, Appellant has waived and abandoned his appeal.

Appellant filed a notice of appeal after receipt of Judge Gravely's order. Even in his notice Appellant recognized that the order concerned only the filing of the documents:

Robert Earl Dillard, appeal the order of the honorable perry G. Gravely, dated june 7, 2022. appellate received written notice of denying filing of pleadings order on june 14, 2022. from the perry c.i. mailroom.

(NOA, received July 13, 2022, Appellate Case No. 2022-000972) (errors in original). Further, in his explanation accompanying the notice, Appellant asserted that that he was wrongly denied the right to file. He cited *Lakes v. State* in support of his position but maintained that his pleading was to determine "whether he (Petitioner) was denied due process of law." (Appellate Case No. 2022-000972, Explanation, at 4).

Yet, in his brief,³ Appellant argues the trial court failed to properly instruct the jury regarding reasonable doubt. (*See* Question Presented). Further, he appears to want to revive his direct appeal, (Brief, at 3), and the appeal from his 2011 PCR action on the same grounds as he alleges here, (Brief, at 5). (*See* C/A 2017-CP-39-0182, Order Restricting Future Filings, at 5 (setting out claims and appeal from 2011 PCR action)). But critically, Appellant fails to offer any argument as to whether Judge Gravely abused his discretion in denying the motion to proceed *in forma pauperis*. Thus, the appeal has been waived and abandoned.

³ Appellant was instructed to amend and correct his prior attempts to file a brief. Respondent refers to the Amended Initial Brief of Appellate filed May 11, 2023.

Appellate jurisdiction is obtained by timely service of a notice of appeal of a final order. *See Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 14, 602 S.E.2d 772, 775 (2004) (“The requirement of service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional...”). An appeal is limited to the issue ruled on below. *See State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon” below); *id.* at 142, 587 S.E.2d at 693-94 (“Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.”).

To the extent that Appellant’s argument could be construed as offering potential support of his request to file without payment of fees based on merits (which is extremely questionable in the way it is presented), the potential merits of underlying claims (especially where those claims are more appropriately presented in other actions or other courts) simply has no bearing on the payment of fees under Rule 3, SCRPC. It certainly presents no basis for extending subject matter jurisdiction where none exists.

To the extent Appellant attempts to show that his 2022 motion filing should be construed as a state habeas action, that argument does not support proceeding *in forma pauperis* for clear reasons: Petitioner has filed a state habeas petition in circuit court before thus should know how to label the action as such, (*see C/A 2005-CP-39-1735*), but did not do so here. Further, Appellant filed a state habeas corpus action the original jurisdiction of the Supreme Court and label the action as such, (Appellate Case No. 2021-000115). Notably, in his original jurisdiction action, Appellant submitted a motion to proceed with payment of cost and offered the reason as being the action was one of state habeas and cited to *Lakes v. State*. (Appellate Case No. 2021-000115, [Motion to] Proceed in Forma Pauperis Without Cost, at 1). It is doubtful that in filing in circuit court in 2022 that he had forgotten *Lakes* or the appropriate designation to indicate the filing of a state habeas

action. Second, Petitioner asserted a right to file without cost under an adversarial system and equal protection. (R. p. *). In other words, he did not ask for his motion to be construed as a habeas action or post-conviction relief action. Petitioner cannot argue one ground below and another on appeal. *See, e.g., State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5–6, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“A party cannot argue one ground for a directed verdict in trial and then an alternative ground on appeal.”). Because Appellant “failed to raise this issue at trial,” he has “waived his right to argue it on appeal.” *Id.*

Further, Rule 208 (b)(1)(E), SCACR requires an appellant to present “discussion and citations of authority” in support of each claim. Even if one were to infer that the merits argument presented goes to the decision to deny the motion to allow *in forma pauperis* proceedings, Petitioner has not cited any authority that would support such position. Again, the argument is waived and abandoned. *See First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994) (if a party fails to cite authority or the argument consists of mere allegations, the party is deemed to have abandoned the issue on appeal).

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